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Department of Housing and Economic Development

CITY OF CHICAGO
April 5,2013
The Honorable Susana Mendoza City Clerk
City of Chicago Room 107, City Hall 121
North LaSalle Street Chicago, Illinois 60602

RE: Recommendation for Landmark Designation of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store
Building at 4700 S. Ashland Av.

Dear Clerk Mendoza:
We are filing with your office for introduction at the April 10, 2013, City Council meeting as a transmittal
to the Mayor and City Council of Chicago the recommendation of the Commission on Chicago Landmarks

that the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building be designated a Chicago Landmark
District.

The material being submitted to you for this proposal includes the:
1. Recommendation of the Commission on Chicago Landmarks; and
2. Proposed Ordinance.

Thank you for your cooperation in this matter.
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Sincerely,
Historic Preservation Division Bureau of Planning and Zoning

-jro or}

ends.

Alderman Willie Cochran, 20 ' Ward (without enclosure)

121 NORTH LASALLE STREET, ROOM 1 000, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60602

ORDINANCE

Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building 4700 S.
Ashland Av.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Municipal Code of Chicago (the "Municipal
Code"), Sections 2-120-630 through -690, the Commission on Chicago Landmarks (the "Commission") has
determined that the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building (the "Building"), located at 4700
S. Ashland Avenue, Chicago, lllinois, as more precisely described in Exhibit A attached hereto and
incorporated herein, satisfies four (4) criteria for landmark designation as set forth in Sections 2-120-620 (1),
(3), (4) and (5) of the Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the Building exemplifies the important role that neighborhood department stores played as
economic engines in the development of Chicago's neighborhood commercial districts in general, and
specifically the intersection of 47th St. and Ashland Av., one of the oldest such districts in Chicago; and

WHEREAS, the Building reflects important aspects of Chicago's social, economic and cultural history,
particularly the shopping habits of working-class residents of neighborhoods such as Back of the Yards, where
retailers grew profitable by meeting the needs of local residents for practical and affordable merchandise; and

WHEREAS, the Building was the first branch of the Goldblatt Brothers chain, which at its peak was the
largest department store chain in Chicago and the third-largest in the nation; and

WHEREAS, the Building is significant for its association with brothers Maurice and Nathan Goldblatt
who are credited with inventing discount-retailing methods that became standard practices for retailers across
the nation in the twentieth century, including locating their stores in working-class neighborhoods, extending
hours to allow for shopping before and after work, buying wholesale goods at the lowest price to undercut their
competition, and eliminating clerks and counters to allow customers to select and handle products themselves;
and

WHEREAS, the construction of the Building in 1915 and subsequent additions to it in 1929 and 1933
illustrate the economic prominence of department store companies, and more broadly the transformation of
retailing in Chicago from small independent shop owners to large companies offering a wide range of goods at
multiple branches as the city grew; and

WHEREAS, with its continuous vertical piers and recessed spandrel panels that express the underlying
metal structural frame, as well as its three-part windows and restrained ornamentation, the design of the
Building is an excellent example of the Chicago School, a style of commercial architecture developed in
Chicago after the Great Chicago Fire of 1871 that became internationally significant for its influence on the
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modern movement in architecture; and

WHEREAS, the Building exemplifies the application of Chicago School principals to the design of the
department store building type, seen earlier in such iconic Chicago buildings as Louis Sullivan's for the Carson
Pirie Scott & Company building, and the continued use of the Chicago School in retail commercial architecture
well into the twentieth century; and

WHEREAS, the Building is decorated with fine Classical Revival-style details, such as the decorated
pilaster bases and capitals and the modillion course at the cornice as well as other characteristic decorative
motifs such as egg-and-dart molding, recessed panels and festoons; and

WHEREAS, the Building is clad with white-glazed terra cotta that displays a high degree of
craftsmanship in its ornamental details and overall high-quality design and fabrication; and

WHEREAS, the Building was designed in phases by Alfred S. Alschuler, one of Chicago's prominent
early-twentieth century architects whose body of work includes such noteworthy buildings as the London
Guarantee and Exchange Building, K.A.M. Isaiah Israel

Temple, the first Goldblatt Brothers Department Store, and the Florsheim Shoe Company
Building, all designated Chicago Landmarks; and

WHEREAS, Alschuler's career coincided with Chicago's expansion as a manufacturing
center, and he became known as an innovative and prolific designer of industrial and commercial
buildings that combined functionality and aesthetics, enhancing the character of Chicago's
manufacturing districts; and

WHEREAS, consistent with Section 2-120-630 of the Municipal Code, the Building has a
significant historic, community, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value, the integrity of which is
preserved in light of its location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, and ability to express
such historic, community, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value; and

WHEREAS, on March 7, 2013, the Commission adopted a resolution recommending to the
City Council of the City of Chicago (the "City Council") that the Building be designated a Chicago
Landmark; now, therefore,

Be It Ordained by the City Council of the City of Chicago:

SECTION 1. The above recitals are hereby adopted as the findings of the City Council.

SECTION 2. The Building is hereby designated a Chicago Landmark in accordance with
Section 2-120-700 of the Municipal Code.

SECTION 3. For purposes of Section 2-120-740 of the Municipal Code governing permit review,
the significant historical and architectural features of the Building are identified as:

» All exterior elevations, including rooflines, of the Building.

SECTION 4. The Commission is hereby directed to create a suitable plaque appropriately
identifying the Building as a Chicago Landmark.

SECTION 5. If any provision of this ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for
any reason, the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not affect any of the other
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provisions of this ordinance.

SECTION 6. All ordinances, resolutions, motions or orders in conflict with this ordinance are
hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

SECTION 7. This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage and approval.

Exhibit A
Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building 4700 S.
Ashland Av. Property Description

Legal Description:

LOTS 1 TO 5, BOTH INCLUSIVE, (EXCEPT THAT PART TAKEN FOR WIDENING S. ASHLAND AVE.); LOT
43 (EXCEPT THAT PART OF SAID LOT 43 DEDICATED FOR AN ALLEY BY DOCUMENT #5610414); LOTS
44 TO 47, BOTH INCLUSIVE, AND 16 FOOT STRIP FORMERLY ALLEY AND NOW VACATED LYING WEST
OF AND ADJOINING SAID LOTS 1, 2, AND 3, ALL IN BLOCK 1 IN BERGER AND JACOB'S SUBDIVISION
OF BLOCK 9 IN STONE AND WHITNEY'S SUBDIVISION OF THE WEST '/, OF THE SOUTHEAST "A OF
SECTION 6 AND THE NORTH '/, AND THE WEST Vi OF THE SOUTHEAST "A OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP
38 NORTH, RANGE 14 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ALSO ALL THAT PART OF THE
NORTH AND SOUTH ALLEY BEING PART OF SAID LOT 43 AS DEDICATED AND RECORDED IN THE
OFFICE OF RECORDER OF DEEDS IN IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS ON APRIL 12, 1905, AS DOCUMENT
#5610414 TOGETHER WITH THAT PART OF THE NORTH AND SOUTH ALLEY LYING WEST OF AND
ADJOINING THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 4 AND 5 AND LYING EAST OF AND ADJOINING THE EAST LINE
OF ORIGINAL LOT 43 AND LYING NORTH OF AND ADJOINING A LINE DRAWN FROM THE SOUTHWEST
CORNER OF LOT 5 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF ORIGINAL LOT 43, ALL IN BLOCK 1 OF BERGER
AND JACOB'S SUBDIVISION AFOREMENTIONED, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

P.I.N. Number
20-07-207-001-0000 20-07-207-
002-0000

Commonly known as:
4700 S. Ashland Av. Chicago,
lllinois
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3
CITY OF CHICAGO COMMISSION ON CHICAGO
LANDMARKS
March 7, 2013

PRELIMINARY AND FINAL RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL
OF CHICAGO THAT CHICAGO LANDMARK DESIGNATION BE ADOPTED
FOR THE

OPPENHEIMER-GOLDBLATT BROS.
DEPARTMENT STORE BUILDING 4700 S. Ashland
Av.

Docket No. 2013-02

To the Mayor and Members of the City Council of the City of Chicago:

Pursuant to Section 2-120-690 of the Municipal Code of Chicago (hereinafter, the "Municipal Code"), the
Commission on Chicago Landmarks (the "Commission") has determined that the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.
Department Store Building (the "Building"), located at 4700 S. Ashland Avenue, is worthy of Chicago
Landmark designation. On the basis of careful consideration of the history and architecture of the Building, the
Commission has found that it meets the following criteria set forth in Section 2-120-620 of the Municipal
Code:

1. Its value as an example of the architectural, cultural, economic, historic, social, or other aspect of the
heritage of the City of Chicago, State of lllinois, or the United States.

3. Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the architectural, cultural,
economic, historic, social, or other aspect of the development of the City of Chicago, State of Illinois, or
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the United States.

4. Its exemplification of an architectural type or style distinguished by innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or
overall quality of design, detail or craftsmanship.

5. Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose individual work is
significant in the history or development of the City of Chicago, the State of Illinois, or the United
States.

I. BACKGROUND

The formal landmark designation process for the Building began on March 7, 2013, when the Commission
received a "Landmark Designation Report" at the Commission's regular meeting of March 7% from the
Department of Housing and Economic Development ("HED") summarizing the historical and architectural
background of the Building. This Landmark Designation Report for the Building (adopted by the Commission
on March 7™, which contains specific information about the Building's architectural and historical significance,
is incorporated herein and attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Designation Report").

At its regular meeting of March 7, 2013, the Commission also received a report from Andrew J. Mooney,
Commissioner of the Department of Housing and Economic Development, stating that the proposed landmark
designation of the Building supports the City's overall planning goals and is consistent with the City's
governing policies and plans. This report is incorporated herein and attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "HED
Report").

On January 31, 2013, the Commission received a consent form, dated January 30, 2013, and signed by
William Piatt, representing Goldblatts SLF of Chicago GP, Inc., the owner of the Building, consenting to
the proposed landmark designation of the Building.

II. FINDINGS OF THE COMMISSION ON CHICAGO LANDMARKS

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2-120-650 of the Municipal Code, the Commission, upon receipt of
the Building owner's consent, shall notify the owner of its determination with respect to the proposed Chicago
Landmark designation within 45 days after receipt of the owner's consent; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2-120-690 of the Municipal Code, the Commission has reviewed the
entire record of proceedings on the proposed Chicago Landmark designation, including the Designation
Report, the HED Report, and all of the information on the proposed landmark designation of the Building; and

WHEREAS, the Building meets at least four criteria for landmark designation as set forth in Section 2-
120-620 (1), (3), (4) and (5) of the Municipal Code; and

WHEREAS, the Building exemplifies the important role that neighborhood department stores played as
economic engines in the development of Chicago's neighborhood commercial districts in general, and
specifically the intersection of 47th St. and Ashland Av., one of the oldest such districts in Chicago; and

WHEREAS, the Building reflects important aspects of Chicago's social, economic and cultural history,
particularly the shopping habits of working-class residents of neighborhoods such as Back of the Yards, where
retailers grew profitable by meeting the needs of local residents for practical and affordable merchandise; and

WHEREAS, the Building was the first branch of the Goldblatt Brothers chain, which at its peak was
the largest department store chain in Chicago and the third-largest in the nation, and which is regarded as a
pioneer of discount retailing methods that have become standard practices; and

WHEREAS, the construction of the Building in 1915 and subsequent additions to it in 1929 and 1933
illustrate the economic prominence of department store companies, and more broadly the transformation of
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retailing in Chicago from small independent shop owners to large companies offering a wide range of goods at
multiple branches as the city grew; and

WHEREAS, the Building is significant for its association with brothers Maurice and Nathan Goldblatt
who founded and led Goldblatt Bros., Inc., a Chicago-based company established in 1914 that grew into a
regionally-prominent discount department store chain in the mid-twentieth century; and

WHEREAS, the Goldblatt brothers are credited with inventing discount-retailing methods that became
standard practices for retailers across the nation in the twentieth century, including locating their stores in
working-class neighborhoods, extending hours to allow for shopping before and after work, buying wholesale
goods at the lowest price to undercut their competition, and eliminating clerks and counters to allow customers
to select and handle products themselves; and

2

WHEREAS, with its continuous vertical piers and recessed spandrel panels that express the underlying
metal structural frame, as well as its three-part windows and restrained ornamentation, the design of the
Building is an excellent example of the Chicago School, a style of commercial architecture developed in
Chicago after the Great Chicago Fire of 1871 that became internationally significant for its influence on the
modern movement in architecture; and

WHEREAS, the Building exemplifies the application of Chicago School principals to the design of the
department store building type, seen earlier in such iconic Chicago Buildings as Louis Sullivan's for the Carson
Pirie Scott & Company Building, and the continued use of the Chicago School in retail commercial
architecture well into the twentieth century; and

WHEREAS, the Building is decorated with fine Classical Revival-style details, such as the decorated
pilaster bases and capitals and the modillion course at the cornice as well as other characteristic decorative
motifs such as egg-and-dart molding, recessed panels and festoons; and

WHEREAS, the Building is clad with white-glazed terra cotta that displays a high degree of
craftsmanship in its ornamental details and overall high-quality design and fabrication; and

WHEREAS, the Building was designed in phases by Alfred S. Alschuler, one of Chicago's prominent
early-twentieth century architects whose body of work includes such noteworthy buildings as the London
Guarantee and Exchange Building, K.A.M. Isaiah Israel Temple, the first Goldblatt Brothers Department Store,
and the Florsheim Shoe Company Building, all designated Chicago Landmarks; and

WHEREAS, Alschuler's career coincided with Chicago's expansion as a manufacturing center, and he
became known as an innovative and prolific designer of industrial and commercial buildings that combined
functionality and aesthetics, enhancing the character of Chicago's manufacturing districts; and

WHEREAS, consistent with Section 2-120-630 of the Municipal Code, the Building has a significant
historic, community, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value, the integrity of which is preserved in light of
its location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, and ability to express such historic, community,
architectural, or aesthetic interest or value; now, therefore,

THE COMMISSION ON CHICAGO LANDMARKS HEREBY:
1. Incorporates the preamble, Section I, and the recitals contained in Section II into its findings; and

2. Finds that the Building merits preliminary landmark recommendation in accordance with Section 2-
120-630 of the Municipal Code; and

3. Adopts the Designation Report of the Building, as revised and dated as of this 7" day of March 2013;
and

4. Finds, based on the Designation Report, HED Report, and the entire record before the Commission,
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that the Building meets four out of seven of the criteria for landmark designation as set forth in
Section 2-120-620 (1), (3), (4) and (5) of the Municipal Code; and

5. Finds that the Building satisfies the historic integrity requirement set forth in Section 2-120-630 of the
Municipal Code; and

6. Finds that, for the purposes of Section 2-120-740 of the Municipal Code, the significant historical and
architectural features of the Building be identified as follows:

» All exterior elevations, including rooflines, of the Building.

7. Recommends that the Building be designated as a Chicago Landmark.

This recommendation was adopted /(iuL.i,t* "<u-i*-\ f*>~0) .

Rafael M. Leon, Chairman Commission on Chicago Landmarks

Office of the City Clerk Page 8 of 26 Printed on 5/6/2024

powered by Legistar™


http://www.legistar.com/

File #: 02013-2471, Version: 1

Exhibit A

LANDMARK DESIGNATION REPORT

Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department
Store Building
4700 S.Ashland Av.

Preliminary and Final Landmark Recommendation adopted by the
Commission on Chicago Landmarks, March 7, 2013

CITY OF CHICAGO Rahm Emanuel, Mayor

Department of Housing and Economic Development Andrew J. Mooney,
Commissioner

The Commission on Chicago Landmarks, whose nine members are appointed by the Mayor and City
Council, was established in 1968 by city ordinance. The Commission is responsible for recommending to the
City Council which individual buildings, sites, objects, or districts should be designated as Chicago
Landmarks, which protects them by law.

The landmark designation process begins with a staff study and a preliminary summary of information
related to the potential designation criteria. The next step is a preliminary vote by the landmarks commission
as to whether the proposed landmark is worthy of consideration. This vote not only initiates the formal
designation process, but it places the review of city permits for the property under the jurisdiction of the
Commission un til a final landmark recommendation is acted on by the City Council.

This Landmark Designation Report is subject to possible revision and amendment during the
designation process. Only language contained within a designation ordinance adopted by the City Council
should be regarded as final.
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Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.

Department Store Building
4700 S. Ashland Av.

Built: 1915 (Original Building)

1929 (Addition to the West)

1933 (Added Stories to 1915 Building) Architect:
Alfred S. Alschuler

Chicago's tremendous growth in population and size from the 1870s through the 1920s gave rise to its
distinctive patchwork of neighborhoods sprawling outward from Chicago's central business district in the Loop.
While the Loop remained the commercial heart of the city, many of Chicago's outlying neighborhoods grew
large enough to support their own shopping districts with a range of stores, banks, professional services and
theaters conveniently located for local residents. These "cities within the city" were often anchored by at least
one large department store building, owned independently or by a chain, which offered a wide range of goods
at prices that reflected their middle- and working class neighborhood surroundings.

Built in phases from 1915 to 1933, the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building at 4700 S.
Ashland Av. is one of the best-surviving early examples of this significant building type. Each phase of the
building was designed by Alfred S. Alschuler, one of Chicago's most prominent early-twentieth century
architects whose body of work includes the London Guarantee Building, K.A.M. Isaiah Israel Temple, the first
Goldblatt Bothers Department Store and the Florsheim Shoe Company building, all designated Chicago
Landmarks. Alschuler's design for the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is a late
example of the Chicago School, a nationally-important style of commercial architecture. The building is also
significant for its association with the Goldblatt Bros., a Chicago department store company that grew into a
regional chain by pioneering discount-retailing methods.

Built in phases from 1915 to 1933, the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store is located at the
intersection of W. 47th St. and Ashland Avenue in the Back of the Yards neighborhood on Chicago's
Southwest Side.

Building History and Construction
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The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is located five miles from the Loop on the
Southwest Side at the corner of W. 47% St. and S. Ashland Av. in the Back of the Yards neighborhood within
the larger New City community area. The name "Back of the Yards" refers to the neighborhood's location south
and west, or "back," of the Union Stock Yards, a conglomeration of livestock trading and meatpacking facilities
that once sprawled over 475 acres near Exchange and Halsted streets north of the store's location. The Stock
Yards was one of Chicago's largest employers from its establishment in 1865 until well into the middle of the
twentieth century, and most of its employees lived within walking distance in a group of densely-populated
working-class neighborhoods that included, in addition to Back of the Yards, the neighborhoods of Bridgeport,
McKinley Park and Canaryville, all collectively known as Packingtown.

Back of the Yards was first populated by German and Irish immigrants, yet as these groups moved west in the
1870s, they were replaced by immigrants from Central and Eastern Europe, primarily Poles as well as
Lithuanians, Bohemians and Slovaks who found jobs in the Stock Yards. This working-class population lived in
crowded conditions in modest frame houses built in the 1880s and 1890s.

In his muckraking 1906 novel The Jungle, Upton Sinclair characterized Stock Yard workers as the "wage slaves
of the Beef Trust." Despite the grinding poverty documented by Sinclair, retail merchants Julius Oppenheimer
and Simeon Lederer reasoned that the neighborhood contained a large population with at least some income to
spend on basic goods and necessities. In 1894 Oppenheimer and Lederer constructed a four-story brick store
building at the southwest corner of W. 47™ St. and Ashland Av. (the site of the current building) which housed
the first Oppenheimer department store. The store remained in business for twenty years until it was destroyed
by fire in 1914, whereupon Oppenheimer immediately began to rebuild in the spring of 1915.

Oppenheimer commissioned Alfred S. Alschuler, a 39-year-old Chicago architect establishing himself as a
specialist in industrial and commercial buildings, to design a new department store for the site. Completed in
November 1915 at a cost of $80,000, the J. Oppenheimer & Co. department store forms the original part of the
current structure and consists of the four-story block that includes three structural bays on Ashland Av. and six
bays on 47th St. as well as the attached one-story wing extending an additional two bays south along Ashland
and a wing (originally two stories) extending four bays west on 47" St. Alschuler's design employed a white-
glazed terra-cotta facade, reinforced-concrete floors and a cast-iron structural frame (steel framing was used in
later additions to the building).

In 1926 Oppenheimer sold the property to the Buffalo-based Larkin Company, which operated their department
store in the building for only two years, until 1928, when it was purchased by the Goldblatt Brothers, a rising
Chicago retailer. Established in 1914 by Maurice and Nathan Goldblatt, Goldblatt's had successfully adapted
the department store model from a purveyor of luxury goods to a retailer offering discounted merchandise to
working-class shoppers.

,» 1915-1926
J. Oppenheimer & Co.

1926-1928
1933 ' Goldblatt Bros. 5-Stéry Addition
. 1933 Goldblatt Bros.

The isometric diagram (above) shows the evolution of the building, beginning with the original 1915 structure
(fig. A). In 1929 the Goldblatt Bros, added the five-story block that extended the building west along 47th St.
(fig. B), and in 1933 the Goldblatts added two stories atop the two-story portion of the 1915 building (fig. C)
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which visually unified the 47th St. facade.

The Goldblatt brothers prospered and added onto the building in 1929 and again in 1933 bringing it to its
current form. In both its structure and exterior design, the original 1915 building was well-suited for later
additions, and in both cases the Goldblatts commissioned the original architect, Alfred Alschuler, to design
them. The 1929 addition housed additional retail space and offices in a five-story block that expanded the
building west along 47" St. to Marshfield Av. In 1933 the Goldblatts engaged Alschuler again to add two
stories atop the two-story portion of the 1915 building. This final addition visually unified the 47% St. facade
with a regular rhythm of fourteen structural bays and a continuous cornice above the fourth story.

Though it was built in three stages from 1915 to 1933, the overall coherency of Alschuler's original design and
his additions allows the building to be described as a single work. Rectangular in plan with a flat roof, the
building fills the 245' x 125' lot bounded by Ashland Av., W. 47" St., Marshfield Av., and the alley to the south.
The primary mass of the building is a four-story block (1915, 1933) at the intersection of 47™ St. and Ashland
Av. Attached to this is a five-story block (1929) to the west and a one-story wing (1915) to the south.

The terra-cotta clad primary elevations facing the commercial thoroughfares of 47th St. (north) and Ashland Av.
(east) have the most architectural interest. Typical of retail buildings of the period, these elevations are
organized into two horizontal divisions: a street-level one-story base composed almost entirely of large
storefront windows for the display of goods, and upper floors with a unified architectural treatment of large
window openings defined by a grid of piers and spandrels.

The base of the building consists of a nearly-continuous band of storefront windows placed in front of the
building's structural columns. While the current aluminum storefront frames are not historic, the overall size of
the windows is consistent with historic photos of the building. The low granite bulkhead below and the transom
windows above the storefronts are original. There are four recessed entrances to the building from the sidewalk,
one at Ashland Av. and three along 47" St. The coved soffit and ornamental metal decoration at the
westernmost entrance on 47th St. appears to be original. A horizontal band of terra cotta with a simple raised-
panel design marks the transition from the storefront level and the upper floors. The band includes integral terra
-cotta lettering identifying the "West 47th Street" and "S. Ashland Ave" facades, and the name "Goldblatt Bros."
is applied with bronze lettering at three locations along the band.

Above the street-level base, the upper portion of the building is composed of a rectangular arrangement of
continuous vertical piers and recessed spandrels framing bay-spanning window openings. The piers organize
the facades into a series of repeating structural bays, with fourteen on 47th St. and five on Ashland Av. The
piers are rendered as paired pilasters with simplified Classical-style bases and capitals. The horizontal line of
the floor levels is marked by recessed spandrels with simplified panel ornamentation. The grid-like
arrangement of intersecting piers and spandrels expresses the underlying metal structural frame of the building
and places the design within the Chicago School, a style of commercial architecture developed and refined in
Chicago from 1875 through the 1920s. The building's fenestration is also characteristic of the style, with each
opening combining a fixed casement flanked on each side by double-

The above photo shows the primary elevations of the building which are clad in white glazed terra cotta. The shorter
Ashland Av. elevation (left side of photo) includes the four-story portion which is divided into three bays as well as the
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one-story wing. The longer W. 47th St. elevation (right side of photo) is arranged in a se-
ries of fourteen regularly-spaced bays. Though built in three stages, architect Alfred S. Alschuler's design for the
original structure and two additions forms a unified and coherent whole.

Looking east down 47th Street (above) reveals the building's nearly continuous band of storefront windows at the
sidewalk level. On the upper floors projecting piers and recessed spandrel panels intersect to create the grid-like
rectangular aesthetic that is characteristic of Chicago School commercial architecture. The Marshfield Av. elevation (on
the right) has a finished terra-cotta return for one bay, while the rest of this secondary facade is face brick.

While the overall design of the building follows the practical tenets of the Chicago School, Alschuler decorated
the exterior with restrained Classical-style terra-cotta ornamental details, including pilaster capitals and a
cornice (top photo) as well as the tablet at the parapet (middle photo) framed by swags and a Greek-key motif.
Street names (left) are molded into the terra-cotta band above the storefront windows.

hung-sash windows, a grouping known as the "Chicago window" for its association with the Chicago School of
architecture.

The upper stories are clad in white glazed terra cotta that displays a high degree of craftsmanship in its
ornamentation. The terra cotta was manufactured by the American Terra Cotta Company, based in the town of
Terra Cotta near Crystal Lake, Illinois. From 1881 to 1966 the company was one of the nation's largest
producers of terra cotta.

The fourth story of the building is topped with a Classical entablature with a projecting cornice and raised
parapet. Portions of the building rise above the parapet, including a one-story mechanical penthouse near the
center of the north facade and the fifth story at the northwest corner of the building. A wood water tank painted
with the Goldblatts name is located on a penthouse above the south elevation.

The west elevation facing Marshfield Av., a primarily residential street, includes a single terracotta clad bay
turning the corner of the building, while the less-visible remainder of the facade is face brick trimmed with
terra-cotta stringcourses and window sills. The south elevations of the building facing the alley are utilitarian
common brick.

The Neighborhood Department Store in Chicago

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is a fine example of a neighborhood department
store, an important building type in the development of Chicago's outlying neighborhoods. As the city
expanded outward from the Loop from the 1870s to the 1920s, neighborhood shopping districts emerged which
provided working- and middle-class Chicago-ans with a range of stores, banks, professional services, and
theaters as a more convenient and affordable alternative to Chicago's Loop.

The intersection of 47th St. and Ashland Av. was one of these neighborhood commercial nodes, catering to the
nearby working-class residents of Back of the Yards, many of whom lacked both the financial means and
convenient public transportation to shop in Chicago's Loop. Gold-blatt's, and its competitors such as Kruse's,
Klein's, Diebold's, Woolworth's and Sears, Roebuck & Co., grew successful in these outlying commercial
districts by offering a range of af-fordably-priced wares for Chicago's large working-class population.

Chicago's neighborhood department stores tend to occupy between three and nine building lots with a height of
three to five stories and were often, along with banks, the most visually-prominent buildings in these
neighborhood commercial areas. At street-level the buildings feature large storefront windows for the display
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of goods while the upper floors are typically clad in brick masonry or terra cotta. In lieu of architectural
ornamentation or rich materials, neighborhood department store buildings relied on their larger massing and
scale as well as corner locations to stand out in the commercial streetscape. Like the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt
Bros. Department Store Building, many of these buildings were built in stages, with additions added as
businesses grew.

In addition to the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building, other examples of this building
type include the first Goldblatt Bros. Department Store at 1613-35 W. Chicago

10

In the late-19th and early-20th centuries, neighborhood department stores anchored Chicago’'s commercial
districts outside the Loop. Examples of this building type include: the Moeller Bros. (1895, top left) and
Wieboldt's (1898, top right) stores in the Milwaukee Av. Chicago Landmark District; as well as the Goldblatt's
(1927, bottom left) store in the Milwaukee-Diversey-Kimball District. The Loren Miller & Company store (1915,
bottom right) is located in the Uptown Square Historic District on the National Register.

11

Av., a designated Chicago Landmark designed by Alfred S. Alschuler and built in stages between 1921-22 and
1925-28. Other examples can be found in Chicago Landmark districts, including the Wieboldt's (1898), Mocller
Brothers (1895) and Iverson's (ca 1900) stores in the Milwaukee Avenue District; as well as the Goldblatt's
(1927) and Woolworth's (1922) stores in the Milwaukee-Diversey-Kimball District. Another representative
example of the type is the Loren Miller & Company store (1915) at 4726 N. Broadway in the Uptown Square
Historic District on the National Register.

The Chicago School of Architecture

With its projecting vertical piers, recessed spandrel panels, three-part window openings and restrained
ornamentation, the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building exemplifies the Chicago School, a
style of commercial architecture that blossomed as the city was rebuilt after the Great Fire of 1871. Chicago's
booming economy in the late 1880s and '90s led to soaring real estate prices in Chicago's Loop. To take
maximum advantage of expensive land, Chicago architects perfected the tall commercial office building by
adopting and advancing new building technologies such the elevator, plate glass, the floating and caisson
foundation, and, most importantly, the metal (first iron, then steel) structural frame.

William Le Baron Jenney's seminal Home Insurance Building at LaSalle and Adams streets was the first
building to employ an iron structural frame in 1884. By eliminating load-bearing masonry exterior walls, the
metal skeleton allowed for more rentable floor space on the building's interior and much larger window
openings for maximum lighting and ventilation. The metal frame also allowed for architects to build taller and
more quickly, and it more readily accepted additional stories. In addition to supporting the building, Chicago
school architects allowed the steel frame to guide the aesthetic of the facade by expressing the rectangular
arrangement of vertical piers and horizontal beams, perhaps most boldly exemplified by Burnham and Root's
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Reliance Building (1895) which clearly reveals its skeletal metal structure beneath crisp terra-cotta sheathing.

Though the Chicago School developed in the design of the city's early office towers, Louis Sullivan's design for
the Carson Pirie Scott & Company (1899, 1903-04) successfully adapted the construction technology and bold
aesthetic of the style to the department store building type. The style offered two advantages for the large
retailer: the metal frame allowed the ground floor to be opened up with vast storefront display windows, and
the skeletal structure allowed for large open floor areas that could be flexibly accommodate the various
"departments" of the store unobstructed by load-bearing partition walls.

The development of the Chicago School was eclipsed in 1893 when the World's Columbian Exposition swayed
architectural tastes toward Beaux-Art classicism. However, the practical methods and aesthetic of the Chicago
School continued to be applied for commercial and manufacturing buildings outside the Loop, including
neighborhood department stores, well into the 1920s. The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store
Building exemplifies the persistence of the style.

12

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is a late example of the Chicago School of
commercial architecture. Characteristic of the style, the facade (top) is arranged as a grid of continuous vertical
piers and recessed horizontal spandrel panels which visually express the building's underlying steel structural
frame. Also characteristic of the style are the building's "Chicago windows" (middle) with a central fixed
casement window flanked by double-hung-sash windows. While the Chicago School took root in the design of
office buildings, it was also used for retail buildings, including prominent depart stores on Chicago's State
Street. The most important of these being Louis Sullivan's Carson Pirie Scott & Company Building (1899, 1903-
04, bottom) at State and Madison.

13

In addition to its Chicago School architectural character, the building is decorated with pared-down Classical-
style details in glazed terra-cotta. The piers are treated as paired pilasters with a torus-molded base, paneled
shall and paired capitals with egg-and-dart molding. The spandrels are similarly decorated with a recessed
panel motif. The building is topped with a Classical entablature that includes a frieze decorated and floral
ornament, a modillion course and projecting cornice terminating in a raised parapet with paneled decoration. At
the Ashland Av. facade the parapet includes a tablet framed with festoons.

Architect Alfred S. Alschuler

Alfred S. Alschuler (1876-1940), the architect of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building,
was one of Chicago's most prominent early-twentieth century architects. Born in Chicago to German immigrant
parents, Alschuler received bachelor's and master's degrees in architecture from the Armour Institute of
Technology (now the Illinois Institute of Technology), and also took classes at the School of the Art Institute of
Chicago. In 1900 he began his professional career in the office of Dankmar Adler, and he subsequently worked
with both Adler and Samuel Atwater Treat. In 1907 he established his own practice which grew to become one
of the city's largest architectural firms during the 1910s and 1920s, a period when the city was developing a
large manufacturing base. Although a specialist in the design of industrial and commercial buildings, Alschuler
received a wide variety of commissions, including office towers, synagogues, libraries, automobile showrooms,
and hotels.

Through the course of his career, Alschuler designed dozens of industrial and warehouse buildings throughout
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Chicago, many of which were located in the Central Manufacturing District near 35" St. and Ashland Av. A
Chicago Daily News article from January 23, 1937, noted Alschuler's contributions to the city's industrial
architecture:

Many of the improvements in industrial and commercial buildings in Chicago can
be attributed to the genius of Alfred S. Alschuler, one of the city's prominent
architects. During the course of thirty-five years or so he has introduced to
Chicago such items of far-reaching importance as the extensive use of reinforced
concrete in buildings, multicolored terra cotta, and standardized office-building
units.

While the requirements of industrial and warehouse buildings placed function over aesthetics, Alschuler
believed that even these utilitarian buildings had a civic obligation to visually enhance the city. A biographical
sketch of Alschuler in the Art Institute of Chicago's 1982 publication Chicago Architects Design: A Century of
Architectural Drawings from the Art Institute of Chicago, remarks:

At a time when the city was developing an industrial fringe of unattractive
functional buildings, Alschuler's harmonious and refined designs and restrained
Classical detailing were changing the texture of the city.

14

Architect Alfred S. Alschuler (above, 1876-1940) was one of Chicago's most prominent early 20th-century
architects. His industrial and warehouse buildings reflected his design philosophy that however utilitarian these
types of buildings were, they should make an aesthetic contribution to the city-scape.

Noted examples include the John B. Thompson Commisary Building (top left) from 1912 at 340 N. Clark; the
Pelouze Building (middle left) from 1916 at 218 E. Ohio; the Florsheim Shoe Company Building (bottom left), a
designated Chicago Landmark from 1926 at 3963 W. Belmont Av.; and the Kling Brothers Company (bottom right)
from 1920 at 2300 West Wa-bansia Avenue.

In addition to his many industrial and warehouse buildings, the versatile Alschuler designed a range of building
types in a variety of styles, including the Beaux-Arts-style London Guarantee Building (1923, top left, a
designated Chicago Landmark), the Byzantine Revival-style K.A.M Isaiah Israel Temple (1926, top right, also a
designated Chicago Landmark), the Spanish Baroque Revival-style Hudson Motor Car Co. Showroom (1922,
lower left, in the Motor Row Chicago Landmark District) and the Art Moderne-style Benson & Rixon Department
Store building (1937, lower right).

Though designed in a range of historical styles of architecture, Alschuler's body of work includes notable
examples of architectural modernism. For example, his 1926 design for a manufacturing plant for the
Florsheim Shoe Company (a designated Chicago Landmark) at 3963 W. Belmont Av. is a bold application of
architectural modernism to an industrial building with its sleek, rectilinear forms formed by its exposed
reinforced-concrete structure. Another example of his work in the modernist vein is the Benson & Rixon
Department Store at 230 S State St., a 1937 Art Moderne-style design with smooth terra cotta cladding,
pronounced bands of glass-block windows and curved corners.

The London Guarantee Building (1923) at 360 N. Michigan Av. (a designated Chicago landmark) was
Alschuler's most important commission. Commanding an important setting at the Michigan Avenue Bridge just
across the Chicago River from the Wrigley Building and the Tribune Tower, the 22-story Classical Revival-
style building features a concave facade and is topped by a cupola replicating a Greco-Roman lantern. Its
design earned Alschuler a gold medal from the North Michigan Avenue Improvement Association for the best
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new building of 1923 in the North Central District. Other extant office towers by Alschuler include a seven-
story addition to the Blum Building at 624 S. Michigan Av., included in the Historic Michigan Boulevard
Chicago Landmark District.

Alschuler was also known as the "Temple builder" due to the many synagogues he designed, including K.A.M
Isaiah Israel Temple (1926) at 1100 E. Hyde Park Boulevard (a designated ChicagrTlandmark). The walls of
this Byzantine-style edifice feature polychromatic brick in various shapes laid up randomly to suggest old, sun-
baked walls. Another important synagogue design by Alschuler is the Sinai Temple at 4622 S. Martin Luther
King Drive (1909-12), now Mt. Pisgah Missionary Baptist Church.

In addition to the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building, Alschuler designed several stores
and store additions for the Goldblatt Brothers chain, including their first department store (1921-22 and 1925-
28) at 1613-35 W. Chicago Av. (a designated Chicago landmark), as well as the Goldblatt's store buildings at
3149 N. Lincoln Av. from 1929.

Civic buildings by Alschuler include Engine Company 5, Truck 2, 324 S. DesPlaines Av. (1928, a designated
Chicago Landmark), the Legler Regional Library at 115 S. Pulaski Av. (1919), and the Henry W. Austin Public
Library at 5615 W. Race St. (1928). Alschuler's 1930 Harrison Hotel at 63 E. Harrison St. is a high-style Art
Deco edifice replete with stylized foliage, while automobile showrooms for the Hudson and Marmon
automobile-manufacturing companies, located in the Motor Row Chicago Landmark District and both dating
from 1922, feature exuberant terra-cotta ornamentation.

Goldblatt Bros., Inc.

Little is known about Julius Oppenheimer, who built the original portion of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.
Department Bros. Store. The building is significant, however, for its long association with the Goldblatt
Brothers, a pioneering Chicago retailer who expanded the building

17

18

and operated it as a department store from 1928 to 1985. Rather than the high style and luxury of Chicago's
State Street department stores, the Goldblatt brothers helped revolutionize American retailing by catering to
working class and immigrant Chicagoans by offering low-priced merchandise in neighborhood department

stores.

The company was established by brothers Maurice and Nathan Goldblatt, who were later joined in managing
the company by their younger brothers Joel and Louis. The brothers were part of a family that immigrated to
Chicago from Poland in 1904. In 1914 Maurice and Nathan opened the Goldblatt Bros. Drygoods Store in a
rented building at 1615 W. Chicago Av. in a neighborhood on Chicago's near Northwest Side known as "Polish
Downtown." The store sold a wide range of low-priced household goods to an immigrant population and the
business grew rapidly. In 1922, the brothers commissioned Alfred Alschuler to design their first department
store which they expanded in stages through 1928. The building survives at 1613-35 W. Chicago Av. and is a
designated Chicago Landmark.

In the same year that they finished expansion of their first store, the Goldblatts purchased the former
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Oppenheimer department store at 47" St. and Ashland Av. in 1928 to serve as the first branch, initiating a
period of expansion in the company that allowed it to proclaim itself in 1930 "America's Fastest Growing
Department Chain." At its peak in the 1970s, the chain included forty-seven stores throughout Chicago and
Indiana, Michigan and Wisconsin. As with the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store, the company
typically established branches by purchasing existing store buildings and expanding upon them.

The Goldblatt brothers innovated discount-retailing methods that are now standard in American merchandising.
At the core of the company's approach was the idea that everyone was a consumer, even the working poor. In
Retailing magazine, Nathan Goldblatt asserted that: "the people of Chicago want to buy goods [and] 95 percent
of them have not the money to spend for everything they want, nor can they buy anything without considering
its cost." To cater to this thrifty majority, Goldblatts located their stores in Chicago's outlying neighborhoods
and established longer hours (7 a.m. - 9 p.m.) to allow for shopping before and after work. In addition to
newspaper advertisements, Goldblatts published their own circulars which they delivered to neighborhood
residents. The company also pursued aggressive wholesale buying practices to keep their prices low, often
carrying merchandise with slight defects or from unknown brands.

In his 1994 memoir, Louis Goldblatt claimed that the company was the first retailer to allow the customer to
see and handle merchandise by eliminating sales clerks and counters:

Goldblatts displayed its merchandise out in the open, stacked or dumped on
tables. This enabled customers to see and handle it, encouraging impulse sales.
We called this self-selection; it grew up to become the self-service at discount
stores. Goldblatts was about the only store in the country that tied a pair of shoes
together with its own laces and dumped them on a table, inviting the customer to
find the right style and size, rather than selling them from a box which required a
clerk and space-taking chairs.

19

A display ad (right) for a Goldblatt's sale in 1933 showed its six store buildings, including 4700 S. Ashland Av.
Goods on offer included butter, spark plugs, roller skates and canaries in "full plumage" with a written guarantee
that each bird had a "beautiful song."
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A painted sign (right) on the south wall of the 47th and Ashland store.

20

Louis Goldblatt went on to offer a description of what the interior of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.
Department Store might have been like:

We had no carpeting on the floors, no expensive fixtures, or fancy treatments.
Cartons and paper cluttered our stores. The selling floors were a hodgepodge of
grocery tables, wearing apparel, and household needs, interspersed with hawker
demonstrators of, perhaps, knife sharpeners or furniture polish. Goldblatts was a
beehive of excitement and fun, it was not intended to be fancy or even
comfortable.

The formula worked. During the Great Depression Goldblatt's sales nearly tripled and by 1933 the chain
expanded to include five stores in Chicago, an additional two in Joliet and one in Hammond, Indiana. In 1936,
Goldblatts bought the former 11-story Rothschild-Davis store at 333 S. State St., and opened their flagship
store (now the DePaul University Center) on Chicago's State Street. Architectural historian Richard Longstreth
noted that "no other company in the United States approached the scale of Goldblatts operations" during the
Depression.

In 1944 Nathan Goldblatt died of cancer at age 49, prompting the surviving brothers to establish the Cancer
Research Foundation in 1954. Maurice Goldblatt transferred his executive duties to his brothers to focus his
attention as a major contributor and fundraiser for the construction in 1950 of the Nathan Goldblatt Memorial
Hospital for cancer research at the University of Chicago. The Cancer Research Foundation continues to carry
out its mission.

In the post-war period the Goldblatts chain continued to expand to become the largest department store chain in
Chicago, and the third-largest in the nation. Following demographic shifts, the new stores were located in
growing communities at the periphery of the city and in the suburbs where the stores anchored larger shopping
centers. Increasing competition from national chains such as Sears, Montgomery Ward and K-Mart ultimately
forced Goldblatts into bankruptcy in 1981. In 1985 the chain's remaining stores, including the Oppenheimer-
Goldbatt Bros. Department Store, were purchased by the Ames Company who continued to operate them as
discount department stores. Patrick Kane, a descendant of Nathan Goldblatt, bought the store at 4700 S.
Ashland in 1999 and re-opened it as the Goldblatt Bros. Department Store. The store finally closed in 2003.
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Criteria for Designation

According to the Municipal Code of Chicago (Sect 2-120-690), the Commission on Chicago Landmarks has
the authority to make a recommendation of landmark designation to the City Council for an area, district, place,
building, structure, work of art or other object within the City of Chicago if the Commission determines it
meets two or more of the stated "criteria for designation," as well as the integrity criterion.

The following should be considered by the Commission on Chicago Landmarks in determining whether to
recommend that the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building be

21
designated as a Chicago Landmark.

Criterion 1: Value as an Example of City, State or National Heritage
Its value as an example of the architectural, cultural, economic, historic, social, or other aspect of the heritage
of the City of Chicago, State of lllinois, or the United States.

e The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building exemplifies the important role that
neighborhood department stores played as economic engines in the development of Chicago's
neighborhood commercial districts in general, and speci fically the intersection of 47th St. and
Ashland Av., one of the oldest such districts in Chicago.

e The building reflects important aspects of Chicago's social, economic and cultural history,
particularly the shopping habits of working-class residents of neighborhoods such as Back of the
Yards, where retailers grew profitable by meeting the needs of local residents for practical and
affordable merchandise.

e The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building was the first branch of the Goldblatt
Bros, chain, which at its peak was the largest department store chain in Chicago and the third-largest
in the nation, and which is regarded as a pioneer of discount retailing methods that have become
standard practices.

e The construction of the building in 1915 and subsequent additions to it in 1929 and 1933 illustrate
the economic prominence of the Oppenheimer and Goldblatt department store companies, and more
broadly the transformation of retailing in Chicago from small independent shop owners to large
companies offering a wide range of goods at multiple branches as the city grew.

Criterion 3: Identification with a Person

Its identification with a person or persons who significantly con-tributed to the architectural, cultural,
economic, historic, social, or other aspect of the development of the City of Chicago, State of Illinois, or the
United States.

e The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is significant for its association with
brothers Maurice and Nathan Goldblatt who founded and led Goldblatt Bros., Inc., a Chicago-based
company established in 1914 that grew into a regionally-prominent discount department store chain
in the mid-twentieth century.

e The Goldblatt brothers are credited with inventing discount-retailing methods that became standard
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practices for retailers across the nation in the twentieth century, including locating their stores in
working-class neighborhoods, extending hours to allow for shopping before and after work, buying
wholesale goods at the lowest price to undercut their competition, and eliminating clerks and
counters to allow customers to select and handle products themselves.

Criterion 4: Exemplary Architecture
Its exemplification of an architectural type or style distinguished by innovation, rarity, unique-

22

ness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship.

With its continuous vertical piers and recessed spandrel panels that express the underlying metal
structural frame, as well as its three-part windows and restrained ornamentation, the design of the
Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building is an excellent example of the Chicago
School, a style of commercial architecture developed in Chicago after the Great Chicago Fire of
1871 that became internationally significant for its influence on the modern movement in
architecture.

The building exemplifies the application of Chicago School principals to the design of the
department store building type, seen earlier in such iconic Chicago Buildings as Louis Sullivan's for
the Carson Pirie Scott & Company Building, and the continued use of the Chicago School in retail
commercial architecture well into the twentieth century.

The building is decorated with fine Classical Revival-style details, such as the decorated pilaster
bases and capitals and the modillion course at the cornice as well as other characteristic decorative
motifs such as egg-and-dart molding, recessed panels and festoons.

The building is clad with white-glazed terra cotta that displays a high degree of craftsmanship in its
ornamental details and overall high-quality design and fabrication.

Criterion 5: Work of Significant Architect or Designer
Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose individual work is significant
in the history or development of the City of Chicago, the State of Illinois, or the United States.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building was designed in phases by Alfred S.
Alschuler, one of Chicago's prominent early-twentieth century architects whose body of work
includes such noteworthy buildings as the London Guarantee and Exchange Building, K.A.M.
Isaiah Israel Temple, the first Goldblatt Brothers Department Store, and the Florsheim Shoe
Company Building, all designated Chicago Landmarks.

Alschuler's career coincided with Chicago's expansion as a manufacturing center, and he became
known as an innovative and prolific designer of industrial and commercial buildings that combined
functionality and aesthetics, enhancing the character of Chicago's manufacturing districts.
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Integrity Criterion

The integrity of the proposed landmark must be presetted in light of its location, design, setting, materials,
workmanship and ability to express its historic, community, architectural or aesthetic value.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building remains in its original location. Its setting today
is primarily a neighborhood commercial district as it was when the building was built. Architect Alfred
Alschuler's design of the original building and two additions is clearly legible as a Chicago School-style
department store with Classical revival style details.

The building's historic materials, glazed terra cotta and brick masonry, remain in place. A small number of terra
cotta units, mostly at the parapet level, exhibit cracking, a common and repairable condition of terra cotta
buildings of this vintage. None of the cracked units appear to be displaced from the wall plane. A small number
of terra cotta units have been removed from the facade and the voids have been infilled with white glazed brick.
These missing units can be replaced based on patterns from identical units elsewhere on the facade.

The most significant alteration to the exterior is the replacement of the original street-level storefront windows
and doors with a contemporary aluminum storefront system. The replacement storefronts retain the original
window configuration and overall transparency. The steel transom windows above the storefront windows and
the granite bulkhead beneath them are original. Above the street level, the building retains its original wood
sash windows.

A projecting blade sign is located at the northeast corner of the building and a steel sign armature is mounted
on the roof at this corner of the building. Archival images indicate that these were not original to the building
but were in place as early as 1933. These accessory elements neither impair or enhance the building's integrity.

As a whole, the building's condition is repairable and its alterations are minor and reversible, and they do not
detract from the building's ability to express its historic, architectural and aesthetic value.

Significant Historical and Architectural Features

Whenever an area, district, place, building, structure, work of art or other object is under consideration for
landmark designation, the Commission on Chicago Landmarks is required to identify the "significant historical
and architectural features" of the property. This is done to enable the owners and the public to understand
which elements are considered most important to preserve the historical and architectural character of the
proposed landmark.

Based upon its evaluation of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Building, the Commission
recommends that the significant features be identified as follows:

+ All exterior elevations, including rooflines, of the building.
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Department of Housing and Economic Development

city of chicago

March 7, 2013 Report to the Commission on Chicago
Landmarks on the
Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Brothers Department Store Building 4700 S.
Ashland Ave.

The Department of Housing and Economic Development finds that the proposed designation of the Oppenheimer-
Goldblatt Brothers Department Store Building as a Chicago Landmark supports the City's overall planning goals for the
surrounding New City community area and is consistent with the City's governing policies and plans.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Brothers Department Store Building at 4700 S. Ashland Avenue is located in the New City
community area. The neighborhood is referred to alternately as "Back of the Yards" and "Packingtown" as it was settled
by immigrants who found employment in the nearby Union Stock Yards and/surrounding meatpacking plants beginning
in the 1870s. The building was originally constructed in 1915 by Julius Oppenheimer for his department store yvhich
catered to the area's working class residents. From 1928 to 1981 the building was owned and expanded upon by the
Goldblatt Brothers who are regarded as innovators in discount retailing. The building is to be rehabilitated and converted
to housing for senior citizens, and the owner has consented to landmark designatipo”pursuant to a redevelopment
agreement with the City.

The.building is-located in a B3-3 zoning district which is intended to accommodate a very broad range of retail and
service uses. The planned redevelopment of the building may retain commercial uses on the ground floor and no zoning
change may be required. The nearby blocks of Ashland Avenue and West 47" Street are zoned for small scale
commercial uses. Beyond these commercial streets the blocks are zoned for small scale residential uses.

The building is located within the 47"V Ashland Tax Increment Financing (TIF) district. The district was created in 2002
to foster improvements to older commercial properties along Ashland Avenue, to aid in the beautification of commercial
corridors, and to provide assistance for housing on underutilized properties. Landmark designation and the planned
rehabilitation of the building for seniors are consistent with these objectives.

The building is well served by public transportation with CTA bus service on West 47" Street (with a connection to the
Red Line) and bus service on Ashland Avenue (with a connection to the Orange Line).

The surrounding Back of the Yards and Packingtown neighborhoods are significant in Chicago's economic and literary
history (e.g: Upton Sinclair's The Jungle [1906], Carl Sandburg's poem "Chicago" [1916]), however to date few historic
resources have been officially recognized in the area. These are the Union Stock Yards Gate and the former Stock Yards
National Bank Building, both located I mile northeast of the building, and both designated as Chicago Landmarks. Davis
Square, 14 mile north*f the building, and Cornell Square, 54 mile to the south are listed on the National Register of
Historic Places under the Chicago Park District Multiple Property Submission. In addition, in 2006 the Oppenheimer-
Goldblatt Brothers E)epartrrient Store Building was itself placed on the National Register of Historic Places.

ROOM 1000. CHICAGO,

The preservation and rehabilitation of this building will provide long-term benefits to the City in general and the residents
of New City in particular. It serves as a model for sustainable development by retaining existing building and adapting
them to new needs. In conclusion, landmark designation of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Brothers Department Store
Building as a Chicago Landmark supports the City's overall planning goals for Chicago's New City community area and
is consistent with the City's governing policies and plans.
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